1963

Security Title Insurance Agency v. Security Title Insurance Company : Brief of Defendant-Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action brought by the Plaintiffs against the Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company, seeking to restrain the latter company from carrying on its business as a title insurance company under its corporate name of "Security Title Insurance Company," or any related or similar name employing the words "Security Title" and for damages suffered by reason of alleged infringement of trade name and for damages suffered by reason of the Defendant having allegedly prevented the Plaintiff, Security Title Guaranty Company, from qualifying as a title insurance company in the State of Utah (T. 1-5, 46-48).

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Judgment was granted in favor of Plaintiffs restraining the Defendant "... from doing business in the State of Utah under the name, 'Security Title Insurance Company' or under any name employing the words, 'Security Title' in any combination therein, or from using said name or words in the solicitation, conduct or carrying on of the business of abstracting, land title examination, title insurance or any related activity." In addition the Defendant was ordered to forthwith remove or cause to be removed from the window of the premises of Stanley Title Company (Defendant's Utah agent) the name "Security Title Insurance Company." The Plaintiffs' claims for monetary damages were dismissed (T. 61-62). From the portion of the judgment granting injunctive relief in favor of the Plaintiffs, the Defendant appeals.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Defendant seeks a reversal of that portion of the judgment granting injunctive relief in favor of the Plaintiffs. The Defendant seeks to be allowed to continue to do business in this state under its corporate name, "Security Title Insurance Company," or at least in the name of "Security Title Insurance Company of Los Angeles, California."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This is an appeal brought by Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company, from a judgment entered against it in the Third District Court restraining the company ". . . from doing business in the State of Utah under the name, 'Security Title Insurance Company,' or under any name employing the words, 'Security Title' in any combination therein, or from using said name or words in the solicitation, conduct or carrying on of the business of abstracting, land title examinations, title insurance, or any related activity."

The question primarily involved is whether or not the Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company, should be restrained from doing business in the State of Utah under its corporate name after having qualified to do so with the Insurance Commissioner of this state, and after having done business in this state for nearly two years.

Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company, is a title insurance company and actually engaged in the business of insuring titles to land, having been organized

in the State of California in 1920 (T. 315). Since that time it has constantly grown in size until today it is one of the large title insurance companies of the United States (T. 315). During the last few years it has expanded its operation into several other states (T. 315), and on December 6, 1960, it applied to the Utah State Insurance Commissioner for a certificate of authority to do business in the State of Utah as a foreign title insurer under its corporate name (Exhibit No. 22).

In the meantime, however, on December 1, 1944, the Plaintiffs were organized and commenced doing business in Salt Lake City, Utah (Exhibits Nos. 9, 21). On December 1, 1944, the Plaintiff Security Title Company was organized in this state and commenced doing business. On August 23, 1957, it changed its name to "Security Title Insurance Agency" (Exhibits Nos. 10, 21), and on June 27, 1963, its name was again changed to "Security Title Guaranty Company" (Exhibits Nos. 11, 21).

Neither of the Plaintiffs is a title insurance company, but merely acts as an agent in acquiring business for a title insurer.

Thus, by the time the Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company, applied to the Utah State Insurance Commissioner for a certificate of authority to do business in this state as a foreign title insurer under its corporate name, the Plaintiff companies had been organized in this state.

The filing of the application by the Defendant company for a certificate of authority was known to both of

the Plaintiff companies, both of which companies vigorously opposed the granting of the certificate (T. 190). As a matter of fact the Plaintiffs were represented by counsel in their efforts to prevent the qualification of the Defendant in the State of Utah (T. 190).

In the month of January, 1961, the Insurance Commissioner for the State of Utah approved the Defendant's application for a certificate of authority (Exhibit No. 22), and on March 25, 1961, in spite of the vigorous opposition of the Plaintiffs (T. 190), the Secretary of State of Utah issued its certificate, thus completing the Defendant's qualification as a title insurer in this state (T. 14, 35).

Thereupon, having failed in their efforts to prevent the Defendant's qualification in the State of Utah, the Plaintiff, Security Title Guaranty Company, resorted to an outright subterfuge in attempting to "pirate" the Defendant's own corporate name by registering the same as its own trade name (Exhibit No. 3). In other words, the Plaintiff, Security Title Guaranty Company, then known as Security Title Insurance Agency, filed an application with the Secretary of State for the registration of the Defendant's name, "Security Title Insurance Company," as its own trade-mark or service-mark (Exhibit No. 3). Mark Eggertsen, who signed the application under oath as president of Security Title Insurance Agency, declared in the application that the name "Security Title Insurance Company" had first been used by the Plaintiff as its trade name or trade-mark since December 1, 1944 (Exhibit No. 3). At the trial of the case

Mark Eggertsen admitted on cross-examination that Security Title Insurance Agency had, as a matter of fact, never used the name "Security Title Insurance Company" as a trade name or trade-mark (T. 192, 193). The information, therefore, contained in the Plaintiff's application was patently false (T. 192, 193).

Following its qualification in this state, the Defendant, subsequently, on April 4, 1961, entered into a contract with Stanley Title Company whereby the latter company undertook to act as agent in the State of Utah for the Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company (T. 371).

Stanley Title Company had been organized by George Stanley, one of the "oldtimers" in the abstracting and title insurance business (T. 363, 365).

On March 9, 1962, Stanley Title Company opened an office at 60 East Fourth South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah, which location had been recommended by Mr. Rogers of Zion Savings Bank (T. 372). This was a desirable location for Stanley Title Company to locate inasmuch as it was near the City and County Building and the Federal Building where records have to be constantly checked (T. 372). The Plaintiffs' offices are at 45 East Fourth South Street. On its front window in large print, running across the center of the window, Stanley Title Company had printed the words, "Stanley Title Company." Immediately underneath the words "Stanley Title Company" in large lettering are the words, "Title Insurance . Abstracts . Escrows." In small letter-

ing down in the lower right hand corner of the window were printed the words, "State Agent for Security Title Insurance Company, Los Angeles, California." (Exhibit No. 23).

All of the business done by the Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company, in the State of Utah since its qualification has been handled through Stanley Title Company (T. 322). The Defendant has not solicited any business, nor done any advertising. Stanley Title Company, the Utah agent of the Defendant, has done business in its own name, that is, "Stanley Title Company," merely identifying its agency relationship with the Defendant on the front window of its business as noted on Exhibit 3, and on its letterheads as shown on Exhibit No. 23.

A point to be kept in mind and which we contend is vital to the decision in this case is that the title insurance business is not a business dealing with the public generally, but on the contrary is a specialized type of business, generally handled by experts and professionally qualified people who generally have occasion to deal with most of the local title companies, know with whom they are dealing, and are generally aware of the respective connections with the various title insurance companies who actually issue the title insurance policies (T. 205, 206, 292, 373, 374, 376, 427, 436, 439).

On June 18, 1962, the Plaintiff, Security Title Insurance Agency, now known as Security Title Guaranty Company, applied to the Commissioner of Insurance of

the State of Utah, for a certificate of authority to do business as a domestic title insurer in this state (Exhibit No. 4). The Defendant, of course, immediately filed an objection with the office of the Insurance Commissioner to the granting to Security Title Guaranty Company a certificate authorizing the latter company to conduct business as to title insurer (Exhibit No. 5).

On June 4, 1962, the Plaintiffs instituted suit against the Defendant with the aforementioned results (T. 1, 61).

It is from this judgment that the Defendant appeals.

Since this is an equity case, the appeal may be on questions of law and fact (Constitution of Utah, Article 8, Section 9). On review this Court, analogous to a trial de novo on the record, should determine from a fair preponderance or greater weight of the evidence whether or not the findings of the trial court are supported thereby. *Corey v. Roberts*, 82 U. 445, 25 P.2d 940; *Lawley v. Hickenlooper*, 61 U. 298, 212 P. 526; *Budget System, Inc. v. Budget Loan and Finance Plan*, 12 Utah 2d 18, 361 P.2d 512.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN MAKING FINDINGS OF FACT NOS. 12 and 14, IN MAKING CONCLUSIONS OF LAW NOS. 2 AND 3, AND IN RESTRAINING THE DEFENDANT.

A. Findings of Fact Nos. 12 and 14, Conclusions of Law Nos. 2 and 3 and Decree.

Findings of Fact Nos. 12 and 14, Conclusions of Law Nos. 2 and 3, and the Decree are so inter-related that they are considered together under this Point of Argument.

Findings of Fact Nos. 12 and 14 are as follows :

“12. The words or name ‘Security Title’ are synonymous with the business of plaintiff corporations. The use by others than those associated with plaintiff companies of words ‘Security Title’ in the same general area of business activity, land title examinations, abstracts and title insurance or any part or function thereof is and will be confusing to those who have occasion to deal with such companies.

* * *

“14. If permitted to do so without restraint by this Court, defendant corporation could under the name ‘Security Title Insurance Company’ engage in direct competition with plaintiff corporations and the affiliates thereof in all parts of the land title business to the irreparable injury of plaintiffs.”

Conclusions of Law Nos. 2 and 3 are as follows :

“2. The defendant, its respective officers, agents, servants and employees and all persons whomsoever acting by or for the defendant should be restrained from the use of the words or names ‘Security Title’ in any way within the State of Utah, in connection with the business of land titles, abstracts or title insurance, and defendant should be permanently enjoined from doing business as a title insurer in the State of Utah under the name Security Title Insurance Company or under any name in which the words ‘Security Title’ appear in any combination whatever.

"3. Defendant should be ordered to remove forthwith the name 'Security Title Insurance Company' from the office window at 60 East 4th South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah and should be allowed a period of 90 days in which to either qualify under another name as a title insurer in the State of Utah or to withdraw therefrom. During such period defendant or its agent, Stanley Title, should be permitted to use the preliminary report forms such as exhibit 35, and the letterheads which bear the name Security Title Insurance Company in small letters, but during such 90 day period no enlargement of use of said names should be permitted and thereafter defendant should be permanently restrained from use of such name or any name embodying the words 'Security Title' in doing business in the State of Utah."

The Decree entered by the trial court provided in part as follows:

"IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the defendant, Security Title Insurance Company, its respective officers, agents, servants and employees and any person or corporation acting by or for defendant in any capacity be, and each of them is hereby prohibited, restrained and enjoined from doing business in the State of Utah under the name, 'Security Title Insurance Company,' or under any name employing the words, 'Security Title' in any combination therein, or from using said name or words in the solicitation, conduct or carrying on of the business of abstracting, land title examination, title insurance or any related activity.

"IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that defendant forthwith

remove or cause to be removed from the window of the premises occupied by said Stanley Title Company, agent of defendant, at 60 East 4th South, Salt Lake City, Utah, the name 'Security Title Insurance Company.' ”

B. Contention of Defendant, Security Title Insurance Company.

The Defendant contends that having qualified as a foreign insurer in this state with the Insurance Commissioner it thereupon was and is free to use its corporate name in the pursuit of its business as long as it does not do so in such a way as to cause or probably cause confusion. The evidence, as will be pointed out hereafter, does not support Findings Nos. 12 and 14, Conclusions of Law Nos. 2 or 3, nor upon the Decree as entered. On the contrary the record shows that both Plaintiffs and Defendant deal generally with a professional, informed clientele; that the Plaintiffs and Defendant are not competitors inasmuch as the Defendant is a title insurance company, while the Plaintiffs are merely title insurance agencies; that the words “security” and “title” are in common use and generic in character; that the Defendant has, since its operation, taken considerable care to properly identify itself so that in nearly two years of operation there has been no confusion, nor is there any reasonable probability of confusion in the future.

C. Review of Law Controlling the Case.

The Court's attention is first invited to the legal principles controlling the case. The essential inquiry is

whether or not there is confusion or a probability of confusion. In considering this question, the Court should examine, among other things, the nature of the business and the class of persons patronizing the same, how the names are actually being used, the nature of the words involved in the names, and the competition or lack thereof between the parties.

(1) *The Essential Question.*

The essential question is always whether or not there is confusion or a probability of confusion.

Said the court in *Federal Securities Co. v. Federal Securities Corp.*, 276 P. 1100 (Ore., 1929), 66 A.L.R. 934, 946:

“The ultimate question is always whether trade is being unfairly diverted, and whether the public is being cheated into the purchase of something which it is not in fact getting; the courts interfere solely to prevent deception.

* * *

“When it has been found that there is a similarity of names, a court does not cease its inquiries and at once grant relief, but proceeds to ascertain whether the other facts are such that deception and injury are likely.”

(2) *The Importance of the Nature of the Business.*

The nature of the business involved and the class of persons patronizing the same are particularly important.

“The class of persons who patronize the particular business or who buy the particular kind

of article manufactured, such as servants or children, on the one hand, or persons skilled in the particular trade on the other, must be considered in determining the question of probable deception; in every case the court should determine the question by placing itself in the position of the average person to whom the appeal for patronage is directed. Furthermore, the apprehension of confusion because of similarity of names is less in noncompetitive than in competitive businesses." 87 C.J.S., Trade-Marks, Etc., Sec. 92, page 332.

Authorities on this point have been collected by the annotator in 115 A.L.R. 1241, 1245:

"As was pointed out in the original annotation, the status of the corporations in the commercial field—e.g., the character of the business and of the products, and the place where the business is carried on—often has an important bearing on the right of a corporation to protection against the use of its name by another corporation.

"This principle has been applied in two recent cases in connection with the differences between the business of insurance corporations and the business of ordinary trading or commercial corporations.

"Thus, in *Standard Acci. Ins. Co. v. Standard Surety & C. Co.* (1931; D.C.) 53 F. (2d) 119, it was held that since the business of casualty insurance and surety companies is conducted through insurance agents or brokers or with the insurance experts of large concerns rather than with the general public, a greater degree of similarity is permitted in respect of the corporate names of such companies.

“And in *Central Mut. Auto Ins. Co. v. Central Mut. Ins. Co.* (1936) 275 Mich. 554, 267 N.W. 733, it was said: ‘There is probably greater latitude allowed to banks and insurance companies in the similarity of corporate names than in the case of ordinary mercantile corporations.’”

See also *Federal Securities Co. v. Federal Securities Corp.*, 276 P. 1100 (Ore., 1929), 66 A.L.R. 934; 66 A.L.R. 948, 962.

(3) *The Significance of the Nature of the Name.*

The nature of the names themselves must also be considered. In *Truck Ins. Exchange v. Truck Ins. Exchange*, 1940, 165 Or. 332, 107 P.2d 511, 523, both the plaintiff and the defendant used the term “Truck Insurance Exchange” in their respective business names. Plaintiff sought to enjoin the use of the term by defendants as a part of its business name. In denying relief the court said:

“No one can dip into the common vocabulary and, selecting some generic or descriptive words which commonly designate the business activities in which people engage, as, for instance, grocery store, appropriate the words to himself and thereby forbid their use by others who desire to launch similar enterprises. The words ‘Truck Insurance Exchange,’ which both the plaintiff and one of the defendants employ as their names, is a term of that kind and, therefore, incapable of exclusive appropriation.

* * *

“It is always the business, and not the name, which is protected in suits of this character.”

A greater degree of similarity will be allowed where the names are geographical or descriptive. Said the court in *Federal Securities Co. v. Federal Securities Corp.*, 276 P. 1100 (Ore., 1929) :

“A great degree of similarity in names will be tolerated where they are geographical or descriptive than where the first corporation’s name is fanciful and arbitrary.”

It is also important to note that mere similarity is not sufficient to warrant an injunction. There must be a use of the similar name which causes mistake as to identity before a court of equity will permit an injunction to issue, and then the injunction will issue only as to the particular use and not as to the similarity.

In *Employers’ Liability Assur. Corp. v. Employers’ Liability Ins. Co.*, 10 N.Y Supp. 845, 847, the court said:

“The rule as to the use of names where both parties are entitled to the same name, and in cases where no fraud or deceit is charged or proven, (as in this case) has been stated in *Meneely v. Meneely*, 62 N.Y. 427, and it is there held that such confusion as results merely from similarity will not be a ground for injunction, but where, even innocently, a defendant so uses his name as to cause mistake as to identity, and to induce the public to believe that he is the plaintiff, the general use of the name will not be enjoined, but the particular manner of the use which causes the mistake, confusion, and consequent injury will be.”

The Supreme Court of California has similarly held in the case of *American Automobile Ass’n. v. American Automobile O. Ass’n.*, 13 P.2d 707, 712:

“Since plaintiff had no exclusive property right by way of trade-mark in the use of the name, it follows that the mere similarity of names does not establish the fraud. It must be such a misuse of the name by advertising and soliciting as amounts to fraud, and without this proof no relief may be granted,”

With regard to similarity of names the Court should take cognizance of the words in the name that are descriptive and if it is the descriptive words that cause the confusion, there are no grounds for an injunction.

In *Employers' Liability Assur. Corp. v. Employers' Liability Ins. Co.*, 10 N.Y. Supp. 845, 846, the court said:

“The words (Employers Liability) have become descriptive of one kind of insurance business, just as the words ‘fire,’ ‘marine,’ ‘accident,’ ‘life,’ indicate other kinds of insurance. ‘ . . . those words, therefore, have become the general designation of a certain kind or department of the insurance business, and do not express proprietorship or origin, and, while the plaintiff was the pioneer in this particular branch of underwriting, and the first to use the words referred to, it has not shown such a present exclusive right as would justify the injunction on that ground.’ ”

As stated by the Supreme Court of the United States in *Del. & H. Canal Co. v. Clark*, 13 Wall. 311, 20 L. Ed. 581:

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