1963

Security Title Insurance Agency v. Security Title Insurance Company : Brief of Plaintiffs-Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

By way of introduction, plaintiffs believe that the defendant's brief neither correctly states the law applicable to the matter before this court, nor does it accurately summarize the testimony of the witnesses. A detailed rejoinder to all of the allegations of the defendant's brief would neither be helpful to the Court, nor in compliance with the Court order that briefs be confined to fifty pages or less. Accordingly we shall argue the plaintiff's case under our own headings. To the extent that space permits, and the exigencies of the case require we shall point out what plaintiffs consider to be the fallacies in the defendant's argument.

POINT 1

THE WORDS "SECURITY TITLE" WHILE WORDS OF GENERAL USAGE HAVE ACQUIRED A SECONDARY MEANING AS RELATING TO THE PLAINTIFFS' BUSINESS IN THE STATE OF UTAH AND THE PLAINTIFFS ARE ENTITLED TO PROTECTION FROM COMPETING ACTIVITIES OF THE DEFENDANT USING A NAME DECEPTIVELY SIMILAR TO THE PLAINTIFFS AND EMPLOYING THE WORDS "SECURITY TITLE". THE COURT'S FINDING AND CONCLUSIONS SHOULD BE SUSTAINED.

The words "Security Title" were used in Utah in the corporate name of a corporation engaged in the business of abstracting, land title examinations and agent for title insurers, by Mark Eggertsen, President of Plaintiffs, when he formed Security Title and Abstract Company June 1st, 1942 and commenced doing business in Provo, Utah. (R. 123, 270, 358) Plaintiff Security Title Guaranty Company was formed in November, 1944 by Robert G. Kemp and Mark Eggertsen under the name, Security Title Company. (R. 123 Ex. 9) The name "Security Title" in combination with words such as "Insurance Agency," "Guaranty Company" or "Company" has been continuously used by plaintiffs in connection with the business of abstracting, land title examinations and title insurance on a state wide basis in the State of Utah either through wholly owned subsidiaries, agents or licensees from that time to the present. (R. 183) The name "Security Title" is much used in this industry by many different corporations in many different locales. (R. 182-3) In Utah the name has become associated with the business of plaintiffs. (R. 358) Even the defendant's

own witnesses so testified. Mr. Horsley, an attorney called by Defendant testified on cross examination, "Q. Now, Mr. Horsley, in this area among attorneys if we speak of Security Title, who do we mean? A. We mean Mark Eggertsen's company." (R. 423) Mr. Ellertson another witness called by defendant testified, "* * * We know Stanley is the Stanley Title Company as we know Mark as the Security Title all of these years. * * *" (R. 439) Mr. George W. Brown manager of the Federal Land Bank Association of Provo, Utah for more than twenty years called by the defendant as a witness testified,

"Q. I show you, Mr. Brown, what is a portion of Ex. 32; an envelope bearing the date of February 27, 1961 and ask to whom you would deliver this envelope if it were left to you to deliver that piece of mail?

"A. I would deliver it to Mark Eggertsen's office.

"Q. And how would you happen to do that?

"A. Well, I have known Mark Eggertsen's Company as such, as indicated on this envelope for some time.

"Q. And how is it indicated on the envelope?

"A. Security Title Insurance Company." (R. 416)

In Utah until the qualification of the defendant, March 25th, 1961, the plaintiff companies and their affiliated agents and licensees have been the only ones using the words "Security Title" in connection with the business of land titles, abstracting or title insurance. (R. 358, 269-70, 307, 312) The State of Utah as of the date

of defendant's qualification as a foreign corporation authorized to do business in Utah had no statutory prohibition to the use by a foreign corporation of a name deceptively similar to the name of a corporaion already doing business in the state. Such a prohibitory act was passed by the 1961 legislature when it enacted the new Corporation Code and the act is now in effect but did not become effective until some months after defendant's qualification. (16-10-104 UCA 1953 as amended by Chapter 28 Laws of Utah 1961) Plaintiffs believe the defendant designedly took advantage of this loophole in the Utah law and sought to profit by the excellent reputation enjoyed by the plaintiffs in this area under the name "Security Title" by utilizing the words "Security Title" and its own corporate name "Security Title Insurance Company" in developing its business in this State. George Stanley had been at one time an agent for plaintiff Security Title Guaranty Company. (R. 275) Later he chose to affiliate with the defendant Security Title Insurance Company even though he had opportunities with other, even larger companies. (R. 391-2) When Stanley Title Company became the agent in Utah for defendant Security Title Insurance Company, Mr. Stanley did not immediately commence public display of the name Security Title Insurance Company on his place of business, he waited until he moved his headquarters just across the street from the plaintiffs' office on East Fourth South in Salt Lake City, Utah. (R. 386-7) The intention of the Defendant Company to profit by the unfair competitve use of the name "Security

Title" is illustrated by the use made of the words "Security Title" on a form known as a Preliminary Report Form supplied to its agent, Stanley Title Company from its home office in California. That form on the Reverse side thereof without any justifiable reason set up the words "Security Title" in bold print several times larger than the accompanying words "Insurance Company". (R. 387 Ex. 15)

The law on this problem is not overly complex or difficult of application. Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations, Permanent Edition, Vol. 6., Section 2425 states:

"The right of a corporation to equitable protection of its name against use by another rests upon the fact that it first occupied the field under that name. * * * The protection accorded is largely coextensive with the field in which the corporation operates. Previous use of the corporate name in another part of the country may not defeat the right in the territory in which the subsequent appropriation and user occur, * * *

Ibid Sec. 2427

"* * * Although a corporation's name is composed in whole or in part of generic or descriptive words, it may enjoin others who subsequently enter the field from unfair competition or dealing under an identical or similar name. Again, names and words even of a generic or descriptive character may by prior combination and association with a particular enterprise acquire such a meaning as to render their subsequent use by others misleading and confusing, and the courts will in such case prevent their use at the instance of the corporation first appropriating them in its name.
* * *

The annotating authority in 66 ALR at Page 951 speaking on the subject of protection of a corporate name says :

“It is a universally recognized rule that a corporation is entitled to protection against the use of the same or a similar name by another corporation. * * *”

This Honorable Court has in the recent case of *Budget System Inc. v. Budget Loan and Finance Plan*, 12 U 2d 18, 361 P2d 512, had before it a case similar to the case at bar. In that case the Court quoted with approval from the Idaho case of *American Home Benefit Association Inc. v. United American Benefit Association*, 63 Idaho 754, 125 P 2d 1010,

“* * * it is well settled that when a person has adopted, as the name of a business a term originally geographical, and, by his efforts and expenditures, has developed a reputation and good will for such business and its products, so that such name has come to mean, in the minds of the general public, that particular business and its products, such name thereby acquires a “secondary meaning”, as indicating such business, and its owner is entitled to protection, in its use, by a court of equity. * * *”

We believe that the evidence here clearly supports the application of these same principles to the case before the court. That Plaintiff Corporations have spent years, and large sums of money in the development of the words “Security Title” as being synonymous with their business in the State of Utah is not disputed. (R. 132 to 146 inc. Ex. 12, 24, 25, at page 45, 26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31 and pps 245 to 267 inc.)

POINT 2.

A DOMESTIC CORPORATION IS ENTITLED TO THE PROTECTION OF ITS NAME AGAINST USE BY A FOREIGN CORPORATION LATER ENTERING THE FIELD IN COMPETITION WITH THE DOMESTIC CORPORATION.

The restriction on the use of a deceptively similar name to that of a previously established domestic corporation by a foreign corporation even in the absence of statute is well recognized.

“All of the other necessary elements being present, a domestic corporation may enjoin a foreign corporation doing business in the state from using an identical or similar name in carrying on such business.

Foreign corporations, it has been held, are not privileged over domestic ones in the matter of the use of names similar to those of existing corporations even though the statute, while preventing the creation of a corporation under a name prejudicial to the rights of an existing corporation, makes no reference to the rights in the state of a foreign corporation bearing such a name, and the mere absence of such reference will not oust a court of equity of its general jurisdiction which it possesses independently of statute, over the subject. While it may be that a foreign corporation, having a name the same as that under which a natural person is doing a local business of the same character in the state, may have the right to carry on its business under its corporate name in a different locality, it cannot by reason of its compliance with the state laws relative to foreign corporation to go into the same locality and there do business under such name. In other words, compliance by a foreign corporation with the state laws applying, does not entitle such corporation to go into any part of the state

that it may choose and there do business under its corporate name to the injury of the owner of a local business conducted under the same or similar name. * * *” Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations, Perm. Ed., Vol. 6, Sec. 2437.

In an annotation on the subject, “Protection of Corporate Name,” appearing in 66 ALR 948, at page 1007 the annotating authority says with respect to the rights of a domestic corporation to restrain a foreign corporation from use of a deceptively similar name even in the absence of statute,

“There would seem to be no doubt as to the right of a domestic corporation to relief against a foreign corporation.”

Defendant seeks to take some comfort and shelter from the fact that the Insurance Commissioner and the Secretary of State of Utah both permitted the qualification of defendant over the protest of plaintiffs. The authorities take the position, however, that this is not any protection against suit by an older corporation to protect its name from the encroachments of another entering the field.

“The defense has frequently been interposed, in actions to restrain the use of similar corporate names, that the granting of a charter or a certificate of incorporation is conclusive as to the right to use the name conferred thereby.

This view, however, has been generally rejected. The position has been taken, that although the corporation derives its rights from the state, the state does not intend that the rights conferred by it shall be used tortiously, to the injury of other corporations, and that, if the name of the

corporation is such as to injure another corporation having a similar name, its use may be enjoined, despite the grant from the state. * * * In the case of certificates of incorporation, or certificates to do business in the state, issued by the secretary of state or other officials of the executive department, in which the question of the conclusiveness of the certificates depends somewhat upon the wording of statutory provisions, it is generally held, under the ordinary form of the statutes, that the certificates are not conclusive as to the right to the use of the corporate name." 66 ALR 1014.

Since, as we have previously pointed out, there was no statutory coverage of this matter in the State of Utah at the time of the qualification of the defendant, we believe the action of the Insurance Commissioner and of the Secretary of State afford no protection to the defendant.

POINT 3.

ACTUAL CONFUSION IS NOT A PRE-REQUISITE TO THE ISSUANCE OF AN INJUNCTION TO PREVENT USE OF A DECEPTIVELY SIMILAR NAME BY DEFENDANT.

Defendant throughout the trial of the case, and on this appeal has attempted to establish the claim that the plaintiffs are not entitled to relief because no confusion between plaintiff companies and the defendant can be shown to have actually existed. While we believe that an unbiased reading of the record will sustain the position that confusion most certainly does exist, yet we wish to point out to the court that the right to relief is not predicated on that basis alone. The deceptive simi-

larity of the names is conceded by the defendants in their letter to the Insurance Commissioner over the signature of David L. McKay, (Ex. 5) and again by Mr. Bruce M. Jones, Secretary of the defendant corporation called upon to testify who verified the deceptive similarity of the names. (R. 339-340).

Fletcher Cyclopedia of Corporations, permanent edition, Vol. 6, page 122, Sec. 2440 states:

“A corporation should use all possible promptness in applying for injunctive relief against the use of its name or a similar name by another, and it is the duty of a corporation, the name of which has been unlawfully imitated by a competitive company, to seek relief before the rights of innocent third parties have intervened. Thus, where the defendant has chosen a name which clearly constitutes an encroachment upon plaintiff’s rights in its corporate name, plaintiff need not defer its suit until defendant has actually begun business, but may institute suit even though defendant has done nothing but file its articles of incorporation and receive a certificate therefore. * * *”

In 66 ALR p. 972, the annotating authority says:

“Actual confusion need not be shown but it is sufficient to show that confusion is probable, or likely to occur. This rule is universally recognized.”

POINT 4.

PLAINTIFF CORPORATIONS ARE IN DIRECT COMPETITION WITH DEFENDANT AND USE OF A DECEPTIVELY SIMILAR NAME BY DEFENDANT MAY UNFAIRLY DIVERT PLAINTIFFS’ BUSINESS.

In a further effort to avoid the consequences of its

act, the defendant has attempted to make it appear that plaintiff corporations and defendant are not actually in competition because the defendant is a title insurer and the plaintiff corporations are not insurers. An analysis of the record shows, however, that the plaintiffs and defendant are in direct competition. We have no doubt that the commencement of the instant law suit had a salutary effect on the competitive activities of the defendant corporation and its agent, Stanley Title Company. But the fact remains that when asked directly, George Stanley, Vice President of the defendant admitted that one could get a title insurance policy by coming into his office on East Fourth South where the name of defendant corporation is displayed on the window, and could do exactly the same thing by going across the street to the place of business of the plaintiff corporations and that there would be no difference in the procedures. (R. 392-3) Mr. Bruce M. Jones, Secretary of the Defendant corporation admitted that the defendant maintained title plants, and knew of no restriction which would prevent the defendant, from entering into the abstract business if it so desired. (R. 341 to 343)

The Defendant's counsel has further asserted that a broader latitude should be allowed defendant in doing business under its corporate name in Utah even though it may be deceptively similar to the plaintiffs names, because the bulk of the business is done through a select group of personnel not likely to be confused by the similarity in names. Even a casual reading of the record dispels this unlikely theory. Mr. Ray Willie, Vice Presi-

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